DO NOT REMOVE FROM FILE







FILE COPY

ELLIOTT GRISELL AND LORRI GRISELL Plaintiffs Below, Petitioners

VS.

Appeal from a Final Order of the Circuit Court of Marshall County (19-C-187)

SHELLY & SANDS, INC., Defendant Below, Respondent

PETITIONERS' BRIEF

Counsel for Petitioners, Elliott Grisell and Lorri Grisell

Eric M. Gordon Esquire (WV Bar # 6897) Berry, Kessler, Crutchfield, Taylor & Gordon 514 Seventh Street Moundsville, WV 26041 Telephone: (304) 845-2580

Emal: egordon@bkctg.com

2.	Assignments of Error
3.	Statement of the Case
4.	Summary of Argument
5.	Statement Regarding Oral Argument
6.	Argument
	When Granting Summary Judgment is Appropriate and This Court's Standard of Review
	Respondent Owed a Duty To Use Reasonable Care and Skill When Performing Work on the Property Now Owned By Petitioners
	Material Evidence Exists Respondent Breached a Duty of Care Owed Petitioners
7.	Conclusion

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

- 1. Sewell v. Gregory, 179 W.Va. 585; 571 S.E. 2d 82 (1988)
- 2. West Virginia Rule of Civil Procedure 56 (c)
- 3. Hanlon v. Chambers, 195 W.Va. 99; 461 S.E. 2d. 741 (1995)
- 4. Aetna Casualty & Surety Co. v. Federal Ins. Co., 148 W.Va. 160; 133 S.E.2d 770 (1963)
- 5. Gray v. Boyd, 233 W.Va. 243; 757 S.E. 2d 773 (2014)
- 6. Merrill v. West Virginia Dept. of Health and Human Resources, 219 W. Va. 151; 632 S.E. 2d 307 (2006)
- 7. Painter v. Peavy, 192 W.Va. 189; 451 S.E. 2d 755 (1994)
- 8. Gable v. Gable, 245 W.Va. 213; 858 S.E. 2d 838 (2021)
- 9. Wal-Mart Stores East, L.P. v. Ankrom, 244 W.Va. 437; 854 S.E. 2d 257 (2020)
- 10. Eastern Steel Constructors, Inc. v. City of Salem, 209 W. Va. 392; 549 S.E. 2d 266 (2001)

I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

The Honorable Judge of the Circuit Court of Marshall County, West Virginia, David
W. Hummel, Jr., committed error when he determined Defendant, hereinafter Respondent Shelly
& Sands, Inc., owed no duty of care to Plaintiffs, hereinafter Petitioners and was, therefore, entitled to summary judgment on Petitioners' negligence claim.

In rendering this decision, the Circuit Court failed to properly apply this Court's ruling in Sewell v. Gregory, 179 W.Va. 585; 571 S.E. 2d 82 (1988). In Syllabus Pt. 3 of Sewell, this Court ruled "The ultimate test of the existence of a duty to use care is found in the foreseeability that harm may result if it is not exercised. The test is, would the ordinary man in the Defendant's position knowing what he knew or should have known, anticipate that harm of the general nature of that suffered was likely to result?"

The Honorable Judge of the Circuit Court of Marshall County determined in error this Court's ruling in *Sewell*, was not applicable to the facts in this case.

2. The Honorable Judge of the Circuit Court of Marshall County, West Virginia committed error when he determined even if Respondent owed a duty of care to Petitioners, the evidentiary record failed to create a genuine issue of material fact Respondent engaged in any conduct that breached a duty of care owed Petitioners. The Court found, in error, to the extent Respondent owed any duty to Petitioners, this did not include a duty to construct drainage, a toe key or bench when leveling the site and grading the slope. The Court further determined, in error, there was no competent witness to testify as alleged in Petitioners' pleadings, that Respondent's activities on the property covered a spring, blocked drains, or blocked culverts.

The Honorable Circuit Court mis-applied Rule 56(c) of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure which provides in relevant part "The judgment sought shall be rendered forthwith if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law." In assessing the record to determine whether there is a genuine issue as to any material facts, the Circuit Court is required to resolve all ambiguities and draw all factual inferences in favor of the party against whom summary judgment is sought. Hanlon v. Chambers, 195 W.Va. 99; 461 S.E. 2d. 741, 747 (1995).

The evidence in this matter was sufficient for a trier of fact to determine each element necessary to prevail in a negligence case. It substantiated Respondent owed a duty to Petitioners to level the fill material site and to properly grade the slope. Respondent breached this duty by placing fill material over a spring, culvert or drain and failing to properly drain water emanating from the toe of the slope it constructed; and this breach was a proximate cause of the slip of the fill material and the slip resulted in damage.

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioners own real property situate at 215 Julie Court, Glen Dale, Marshall County, West Virginia. They acquired the property which consists of four parcels totaling approximately 6.669 acres by deed dated September 27, 2016, from Alfred N. Renzella and Susan M. Renzella, his wife, and of record in the Office of the Clerk of the Marshall County Commission in Deed Book 903, at page 357.

Petitioners were aware prior to acquiring the property fill material had been placed on it during the Renzella's ownership. At some point, they became aware Respondent was involved in the fill material being placed on the property. Respondent is a construction business with extensive

experience in construction and paving. It worked on the West Virginia Division of Highways project in the portion of Marshall County known as the "narrows" in 2012.

Beginning in June 2017, Petitioners noticed pencil wide cracks extending 5 to 25 feet long in the area where the fill material was placed. On or about July 28, 2017, during a heavy rain event, the area where the fill material had been placed slipped downhill, some of the material moving onto a neighboring property.

On July 22, 2019, Petitioners filed their complaint alleging negligence on the part of Respondent. (Appendix Pg. 1) The allegation being Respondent spread the fill material in a negligent and improper manner, not up to the reasonable and customary standards of a contractor and in a manner not fit for the purpose for which it was placed on the property. It was further alleged Respondent spread the material over a natural freshwater spring, not properly redirecting the same, and blocked previously installed drains and/or culverts that captured water runoff, allowing the area encompassing the fill material to become saturated. Petitioners complained Respondent owed a duty in placing the material on the property to do so as a reasonable and prudent contractor and in a manner that would not cause damage to the property or adjacent properties. An Amended Complaint was filed by Petitioners adding as a Defendant the West Virginia Department of Transportation, Division of Highways. (Appendix Pg. 4) The West Virginia Department of Transportation, Division of Highways was subsequently dismissed from the suit.

After suit was filed, a document was disclosed by Respondent titled "Waste Agreement." (Appendix Pg. 15) The Waste Agreement dated April 16, 2012, was between Alfred Renzella and Respondent. The agreement granted Respondent a right of way, easement and license to go upon and deposit materials upon the Renzella's property. The term of the agreement was from the date of execution to November 21, 2012. According to the agreement Respondent had the ability to

deposit material of any form, content or nature encountered in the performance of its project excavation and demolition operations except hazardous material. The "material" ultimately deposited consisted of dirt, concrete, and rock according to Terry LePage, foreman on the project and the person executing the "Waste Agreement" on behalf of Respondent. (Appendix Pg. 16)

Respondent had a right of way on and over the property at such place or places it deemed desirable in its judgment, to facilitate depositing material. Mr. LePage interpreted the waste agreement as giving Respondent authority to direct where the material was to be placed on the property, though according to Mr. LePage, Mr. Renzella directed where he wanted it. (Appendix Pg. 367)

Respondent's use of the premises to deposit material was to be exclusive during the term of the agreement. Despite this, Mr. LePage stated other entities were depositing material during the term of the agreement though Respondent solely performed all leveling and grading of the material. (Appendix Pg. 36) Mr. LePage, as foreman, approved how the material was leveled and sloped. At the end of the project, Mr. LePage for want of a better term concluded Respondent had complied with the agreement. (Appendix Pg. 375)

The Waste Agreement provided Respondent would have no liability for damages or diminution in value to the premises resulting from either its normal operations on the premises or the consequences of placement of the materials upon the property.

At the bottom of the Waste Agreement was a paragraph entitled Additional Provisions. Handwritten into this paragraph by Mr. LePage was the following: "I will level up waste site & grade slope". It has not been disputed "I" was referring to Respondent.

Petitioners were unaware of the existence of the Waste Agreement prior to receiving it from Respondent after suit was filed. A review of the records of the Office of the Clerk of the Marshall County Commission show the Waste Agreement was not public record. ¹

On or about October 21, 2021, Respondent filed a Motion for Summary Judgment (Appendix Pg. 22) as well as a Memorandum of Law in Support. (Appendix Pg. 25) In their motion Respondent argued the evidentiary record failed to contain material evidence sufficient to create a genuine issue of material fact supporting Petitioners' negligence claim. Petitioners filed their response to Respondent's Motion for Summary Judgment on November 4, 2021. (Appendix Pg. 109) Subsequent thereto, Respondent filed a Reply in Support on November 9, 2021. (Appendix Pg. 134)

A hearing was held on the summary judgment motion on December 13, 2021. The Court did not rule on Respondent's Motion for Summary Judgment at that time but directed the parties to file supplemental briefs regarding whether Petitioners' tort claim was truly a contract claim. The parties timely filed their respective supplemental briefs. (Appendix Pg. 146 for Respondent's and Appendix Pg. 184 for Petitioners')

By Order entered on the 5th day of April 2022, the Circuit Court of Marshall County awarded summary judgment to Respondent. (Appendix Pg. 184) The Court determined Respondent did not owe any duty of care to Petitioners. The Court ruled to the extent Respondent owed a duty at all to Petitioners it owed no duty to construct drainage, a toe key or bench when leveling the site and grading the slope. The Court further determined there was no competent

¹ Petitioners believe the waiver of liability contained within the Waste Agreement in unenforceable as to their claim against Respondent as it was not of record, and they were not informed of the same prior to their purchase of the property. They hold this belief pursuant to the provisions of W.V. Code §40-1-8 and §40-1-9.

witness to testify Respondent's activities on the property covered a spring, blocked drains, or blocked culverts.

III. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

"The ultimate test of the existence of a duty to use care is found in the foreseeability that harm may result if it is not exercised. The test is, would the ordinary man in the Defendant's position, knowing what he knew or should have known, anticipate that harm of the general nature of that suffered was likely to result?" Syllabus Pt. 3 Sewell v. Gregory, 179 W.Va. 585; 371 S.E. 2d 82 (1988). The Honorable Circuit Court of Marshall County failed to properly apply the law set forth in Sewell when it confined the holding to situations involving negligent construction of residential buildings, thereby, determining Respondent owed no duty of care to Petitioners in depositing fill material, leveling the waste site, and grading the slope of the property in question.

Respondent is a business with extensive experience in construction and paving. It entered into a Waste Agreement with Alfred Renzella predecessor in title to Petitioners and deposited fill material on the property during the Renzellas' ownership. The fill material consisted of dirt, concrete and rock. (Appendix Pg.360) Respondent agreed to "level up" the waste material and to grade the slope upon which it was put. Respondent's foreman Terry LePage noticed water emanating from the toe of the slope during grading of the slope. (Appendix Pg. 369) He was asked to address it by Mr. Renzella. (Appendix Pg. 370) After being asked, he placed stone right at the edge of it so the water would run through the rock down into a ditch constructed, but did nothing else to capture and divert the water. (Appendix Pg. 370) Mr. LePage acknowledged he had on the job training with earth movement, landscaping and slip repair, (Appendix Pg. 352) that slips are often caused by water (Appendix Pg. 376) and that the water emanating from the toe of the slip on the Renzella property would be a problem over time. (Appendix Pg.369)

Respondent deposited fill material on the property and agreed to level the waste site and grade the slope after the fill was deposited. It owed a duty of care in doing so. It knew or should have known as a reasonably prudent contractor a breach of its duty was likely to cause harm of the type that subsequently occurred.

Rule 56 (c) of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure provides in relevant part "The judgment sought shall be rendered forthwith if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law." The Honorable Circuit Court of Marshall County failed to properly consider the material evidence presented by Petitioners when it determined the evidentiary record failed to create a genuine issue of material fact Respondent caused materials to cover a natural freshwater spring and/or block drains and culverts creating a condition proximately causing the July 28, 2017, slip. Evidence sufficient for this issue to be determined by a jury was presented to the Court and it was error for the Honorable Court to rule otherwise.

V. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

Petitioners respectfully submit this case is suitable for oral argument under Rule 19 of the Rules of Appellate Procedure West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals as the Circuit Court's rulings involve assignments of error in settled law, to-wit: the Honorable Circuit Court of Marshall County failed to properly apply this Courts' holding in *Sewell v. Gregory*, 179 W.Va. 585; 371 S.E. 2d82 (1988); and further improperly granted summary judgment in the underlying proceeding in contravention of the requirements of Rule 56 (c) of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure.

VI. ARGUMENT

WHEN GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT IS APPROPRIATE AND THIS COURT'S STANDARD OF REVIEW

Rule 56 (c) of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure provides in relevant part "The judgment sought shall be rendered forthwith if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law." The party moving for summary judgment has the burden of demonstrating that there is no genuine issue of fact and any doubt as to the existence of such an issue is resolved against the moving party. Syllabus Pt. 6 Aetna Casualty & Surety Co. v. Federal Ins. Co., 148 W. Va. 160; 133 S.E. 2d 770 (1963).

For summary judgment purposes, a "material fact" is one that has the capacity to sway the outcome of the litigation under the applicable law. Syllabus Pt. 5 Gray v. Boyd, 233 W.Va. 243; 757 S.E.2d 773 (2014). "The Circuit Court's function at the summary judgment stage is not to weigh the evidence and determine the truth of the matter but is to determine whether there is a genuine issue for trial. Syllabus Pt. 4 Merrill v. West Virginia Dept. of Health and Human Resources, 219 W.Va. 151; 632 S.E.2d 307 (2006). In assessing the record to determine whether there is a genuine issue as to any material facts, a circuit court is required to resolve all ambiguities and draw all factual inferences in favor of party against whom summary judgment is sought. Hanlon v. Chambers, 195 W.Va. 99; 461 S.E.2d 741 (1995).

A Circuit Court's entry of summary judgment is reviewed *de novo*. Syllabus Pt. 1 *Painter* v. *Peavy*, 192 W.Va. 189; 451 S.E. 2d 755; (1994)

RESPONDENT OWED A DUTY TO USE REASONABLE CARE AND SKILL WHEN PERFORMING WORK ON THE PROPERTY NOW OWNED BY PETITIONERS

Petitioners argue Respondent owed a duty to perform work on the property, then owned by Alfred and Susan Renzella, with reasonable care and skill pursuant to *Sewell v. Gregory*, 179 W.Va. 585; 371 S.E. 2d 82 (1988). In 1975, Appellee, Paul Gregory, built a residence in the Forest Hills

Subdivision, located near Martinsburg, West Virginia. After building the residence, he sold it to a married couple by the name of Toup. Three and a half years later the Toups sold the residence to the Appellants, Arthur L. and Irma J. Sewell.

In June of 1979, heavy rains resulted in flooding throughout the house causing damage. In December of 1983, the Sewell's filed suit alleging among other things that Defendant Gregory negligently designed and constructed the house. The Circuit Court dismissed those counts noting a lack of privity.

In overturning the Circuit Court's dismissal, the Supreme Court in Syllabus Pt. 2 of Sewell, held liability attaches to a wrongdoer not as a result of a contractual relationship, but because of a breach of duty that results in an injury to others. The Court further found in Syllabus Pt. 3 of Sewell that, "The ultimate test of the existence of a duty to use care is found in the foreseeability that harm may result if it is not exercised. The test is, would the ordinary man in the Defendant's position, knowing what he knew or should have known, anticipate that harm of the general nature of that suffered was likely to result?".

Respondent agreed to and did deposit fill material on the Renzella property. It specifically agreed to level up the waste site and to grade the slope. It did so as a contractor with experience in earthwork. While working on the property, Respondent's foreman Terry LePage noticed water emanating from the toe of the slope while on site. (Appendix Pg. 369) He was asked to address it by Mr. Renzella. (Appendix Pg. 370) After being asked, he placed stone right at the edge of it so the water would run through the rock down into the ditch, but did nothing else to capture and divert it. (Appendix Pg. 370) Mr. LePage acknowledged he had on the job training with earth movement, landscaping and slip repair (Appendix Pg. 352), that slips are often caused by water (Appendix Pg. 376), and that the water emanating from the toe of the slip on the Renzella property would be a problem over time. (Appendix Pg.369) Despite this knowledge, Respondent did not properly

address the water issue nor is there evidence it warned Mr. Renzella of the potential for a problem. Under these facts, Respondent cannot reasonably argue harm of the type that eventually occurred was not foreseeable and likely to result from its failure to properly deposit, level and slope the material on the property.

Respondent previously argued and the Circuit Court agreed the holding in Sewell was limited to construction of a building or residence. No such limitation exists, and this Court should not apply one. While it is true Syllabus Pt. 4 of Sewell speaks specifically of a builder of buildings it does not serve to limit the remaining rulings of the court therein. Syllabus Pt. 3 of Sewell, has been cited in numerous cases thereafter. In Gable v. Gable, 245 W. Va. 213; 858 S.E. 2d 838 (2021) it was cited by the Supreme Court in its ruling overturning a Circuit Court's dismissal of a complaint involving trespass liability wherein the Appellant was injured after a fall on the front steps of the Appellee's home. In Wal-Mart Stores East, L.P. v. Ankrom, 244 W.Va. 437; 854 S. E. 2d 257 (2020), it was cited in support of the Court upholding the results of a trial wherein it was determined Wal-Mart was partially liable for Appellee's injuries that occurred while a shop lifter was fleeing the store and its employees attempted to apprehend him. A final example is Eastern Steel Constructors, Inc. v. City of Salem, 209 W.Va. 392; 549 S.E, 2d 266 (2001), wherein the Court cited Syllabus Pt. 3 of Sewell, in holding the Appellant contractor could maintain a negligence action against Appellee engineer who performed engineering and architectural services for design of a new sewage treatment plant and two new sewage lines.

The Honorable Judge of the Circuit Court of Marshall County committed error when he determined this Court's ruling in *Sewell*, was applicable only in the context of negligent construction of a residential dwelling and was not applicable to the facts in this case.

MATERIAL EVIDENCE EXISTS RESPONDENT BREACHED A DUTY OF CARE OWED PETITIONERS

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