IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGIN

# **DOCKET NO. 22-0341**

ELLIOTT GRISELL and LORRI GRISELL Plaintiffs Below, Petitioners, Appeal from a Final Order of the Circuit Court of Marshall County (Docket No. 19-C-187)

VS.

SHELLY & SANDS, INC., Defendant Below, Respondent.

DO NOT REMOVE FROM FILE

# **RESPONDENT'S BRIEF**

# Counsel for Respondent, Shelly & Sands, Inc.

Adam M. Barnes, Esquire (WV Bar # 8778) Walsh, Barnes & Zumpella, P.C. 2100 Corporate Drive, Suite 300 Wexford, PA 15090 (412) 258-2255 abarnes@walshlegal.net

#

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

# II. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Respondent cannot be liable to Petitioners for negligence because Respondent did not owe a duty to Petitioners in the first instance. The decision rendered in *Sewell v. Gregory*, 179 W. Va. 585, 371 S.E.2d 82 (1988) articulates a duty owed by residential contractors to subsequent purchasers of a residence. The cases that cite to the *Sewell* decision, and in particular to Syllabus Pt. 3, do not expand its application to encompass the factual or legal scenario now before this Court. Simply put, the *Sewell* standard does not apply because it was not foreseeable to Respondent that its limited activities, which were performed pursuant to contract, at Mr. Renzella's request, and under Mr. Renzella's close guidance and personal oversight, would result in harm to subsequent purchasers such as Petitioners. Respondent did not agree to assume the risk of such harm and, in fact, the Waste Agreement relieved Respondent of all liability for such harm. Because no legally cognizable duty flowed from Respondent to Petitioners, Petitioners' negligence claim fails and awarding summary judgment in Respondent's favor was appropriate and not done in error.

In the alternative, Respondent cannot be liable to Petitioners because it did not breach any duties owed to Petitioners and, consistent therewith, Petitioners have failed to meet their burden of proof of breach. Respondent agreed to place fill material of varied form, content, or nature upon Mr. Renzella's property, followed by leveling and grading the same. Respondent did not cover a freshwater spring or block any existing drains and/or culverts in the process. Petitioners cannot testify based on personal knowledge that Respondent covered a freshwater spring or blocked drains and/or culverts with fill material. Also, despite certain conclusions drawn by Petitioners' expert, Respondent was not asked to and did not agree to install toe keys or benches, or to design, engineer, and implement an expansion of the property. Respondent did what it was contracted to do. Nothing Respondent did, or did not do, effectuated a breach of any duty owed to Mr. Renzella or, more importantly, to Petitioners as subsequent purchasers. In the end, Petitioners offer not proof, but mere conjecture, which is insufficient to defeat summary judgment and advance to trial. Because there is no record evidence of a breach, and because a breach in fact did not occur, summary judgment was properly granted in favor of Respondent and should be affirmed on appeal.

#### III. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

Respondent does not object to Petitioners' request for oral argument pursuant to Rule 19 of the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure. However, Respondent strenuously objects to Petitioners' position that oral argument is necessary because of an "error in settled law" committed by the Honorable Judge David W. Hummel, Jr. of the Circuit Court of Marshall County. On the contrary, Judge Hummel correctly applied the law in concluding that Respondent neither owed nor breached any duty to Petitioners.

# IV. ARGUMENT

#### A. Respondent Did Not Owe A Duty To Petitioners

Petitioners' claim against Respondent sounds in negligence. In order to succeed on their claim, Petitioners must prove the following by a preponderance of the evidence: (1) the existence of a duty owed; (2) a negligent breach of the duty owed; and, (3) that the negligent breach proximately caused damages. *See Wheeling Park Comm'n v. Dattoli*, 237 W. Va. 275, 280, 787 S.E.2d 546, 551 (2016). Regarding the first element, the question of whether or not a duty exists is a legal question that must be answered by the court rather than a jury. *See Aikens v. Debow*, 208 W.Va. 486, 490, 541 S.E.2d 576, 580 (2000) ("[T]he determination of whether a defendant in a particular case owes a duty to the plaintiff is not a factual question for the jury; rather the determination of whether a plaintiff is owed a duty of care by a defendant must be rendered by the court as a matter of law.").

In its Motion for Summary Judgment, Respondent argued (and Judge Hummel agreed) that no duty was owed to Petitioners as a matter of law. In opposing summary judgment, Petitioners cited to Syllabus Pt. 3 of *Sewell v. Gregory*, 179 W. Va. 585, 371 S.E.2d 82 (1988) as support for the existence of a duty, and they again invoke this as authority on appeal.

In *Sewell*, Paul Gregory constructed a single-family home and then almost immediately sold it to William and Beverly Toup. After only a few years, the Toups—with the assistance of Mr. Gregory, who served as the real estate agent in the transaction—sold the home to Arthur and Irma Sewell. Within a few months of moving in, a heavy rain event caused flooding in the home, resulting in extensive damage. The Sewells brought suit against Mr. Gregory, alleging negligence

in the design and construction of the home; strict liability for selling the house in a defective condition; and, breaches of warranties of habitability and fitness for a particular purpose. The Circuit Court dismissed the Sewells' claims based on want of privity of contract. *Id.* at 586-87, 83-84.

On appeal, this Court looked to decisions handed down by courts from a number of jurisdictions in which "the existence of a negligence cause of action against a contractor/builder by a subsequent purchaser" was recognized. Noting that "foreseeability" was the touchstone, this Court quoted with approval a decision of the Connecticut Supreme Court:

The ultimate test of the existence of a duty to use care is found in the foreseeability that harm may result if it is not exercised . . . . The test is, would the ordinary man in the defendant's position, knowing what he knew or should have known, anticipate that harm of the general nature of that suffered was likely to result?

*Id.* at 588, 85 (*quoting Coburn v. Lenox Homes*, 173 Conn. 567, 378 A.2d 599 (1977)). This Court then held:

We hold that implied warranties of habitability and fitness for use as a family home may be extended to second and subsequent purchasers for a reasonable length of time after construction, but such warranties are limited to latent defects which are not discoverable by the subsequent purchasers through reasonable inspection and which become manifest only after purchase.

*Id.* at 589, 86. Viewing the facts of the case before it through the prism of this holding, this Court concluded that the Sewells' claims were colorable because Mr. Gregory "foresaw that there would be subsequent purchasers when he constructed the house . . . [and] [i]ndeed, he took economic advantage of that eventuality by acting as the real estate agent in the sale to the [Sewells]." *Id.* 

*Sewell* involved a particular set of facts and circumstances that are easily distinguishable from the facts and circumstances of the present case. First, Mr. Gregory clearly had a duty to construct a home in compliance with designs, plans, specifications, and building codes.

Respondent did not construct a home for Petitioners. Rather, Respondent was requested to dump fill material at Mr. Renzella's request and direction. Respondent's work in this regard was dictated by the Waste Agreement, which limited the scope of that work to placing, leveling up, and grading the fill material.

Second, the home Mr. Gregory constructed, sold to the Toups, and then facilitated the sale of to the Sewells, was obviously subject to recognized warranties, including warranties of habitability and fitness for a particular purpose. No such warranties, express or implied, were created by the Waste Agreement. In fact, the Waste Agreement essentially disclaimed warranties through its inclusion of exculpatory language releasing Respondent of responsibility and liability for damages. Exculpatory clauses of this nature are presumed to be valid and enforceable as long as they are not unconscionable or in conflict with clearly established public policy. *See Murphy v. N. Am. River Runners, Inc.*, 186 W. Va. 310, 314-15, 412 S.E.2d 504, 509 (1991). The record is devoid of evidence that the exculpatory clause in the Waste Agreement was either unconscionable or offended public policy. *Moreover*, inasmuch as no warranties capable of assignment to Petitioners. *See TD Auto Fin. LLC v. Reynolds*, 243 W. Va. 230, 239, 842 S.E.2d 783, 792 (2020) ("[A]n assignee gains nothing more, and acquires no greater interest than had his assignor.").

Third, whereas the Sewells were apparently unable to discover latent defects in the construction of the home, Petitioners were made aware of the fill material prior to purchase and enlisted a construction professional of their choice to inspect the property to Petitioners' satisfaction.

Fourth, Mr. Gregory had a vested pecuniary interest given his direct role in the sale of the home to the Sewells. Here, Respondent did not have such a vested pecuniary interest. Respondent did not solicit Mr. Renzella; instead, Mr. Renzella came to Respondent's office actively seeking out fill material. What is more, no money was exchanged between Mr. Renzella and Respondent.

All of these distinctions are vitally important, because they demonstrate that it was not foreseeable to Respondent that any harm would come to subsequent purchasers—namely, Petitioners—in doing exactly what it was asked to do by Mr. Renzella and agreed to do per the terms of the Waste Agreement.

Despite the numerous factual and legal distinctions, Petitioners request that this Court subscribe to an elastic reading of its holding in Sewell and apply it to this case. They insist that this Court has been willing to do so in other cases, such as Eastern Steel Constructors, Inc. v. City of Salem, 209 W. Va. 392, 549 S.E.2d 266 (2001). In Eastern Steel, Kanakanui Associates, a design professional, entered into a contract with the City of Salem to render engineering and architectural services and to create plans and specifications to be used in the construction of improvements to an existing sewer system. Id. at 395, 269. Eastern Steel, a contractor, prepared a bid based on the plans and specifications, which was accepted by the City. After it began its work, Eastern Steel experienced significant delays due to encountering subsurface rock conditions and underground utilities that had not be disclosed in the plans and specifications. The delays resulted in Eastern Steel suffering substantial economic losses, but no other damages. Although not party to the contract between Kanakanui and the City, Eastern Steel filed suit against Kanakanui, asserting claims sounding in negligence and-claiming third-party beneficiary status-breach of contract. Finding no duty owed to Eastern Steel, the Circuit Court granted summary judgment in favor of Kanakanui.

On appeal, this Court framed the issue with reference to the specific facts before it, tasking

itself with answering a rather narrow question:

[W]hether there exists [] a cause of action sounding in negligence whereby a construction contractor may recover damages for purely economic losses from a design professional (*e.g.*, architect or engineer) in the absence of a contract between the contractor and the design professional.

Id. at 396, 270. While this Court did cite to Syllabus Pt. 3 of Sewell, it devoted considerable

discussion to its other precedents, while also surveying ample case law from other jurisdictions.

Id. at 397-401, 271-275. This Court then stated:

[W]e expressly hold that a design professional (e.g., an architect or engineer) owes a duty of care to a contractor, who has been employed by the same project owner as the design professional and who has relied upon the design professional's work product in carrying out his or her obligations to the owner, notwithstanding the absence of privity of contract between the contractor and the design professional, due to the special relationship that exists between the two.

Id. at 401, 275. Critical to the holding was this Court's finding that a "special relationship exists

between a design professional and a contractor," because,

[T]he contractor must rely on design documents to calculate his or her bid and, if successful in bidding, to construct the project, and may be further subject to oversight by the design professional during actual construction of the project, [which] fulfills the requirement of the foreseeability of harm that would result from negligence on the part of the design professional.

Id.

*Eastern Steel* is as distinguishable as *Sewell* itself. The case centered on this Court's appreciation of the "special relationship" between a design professional and construction contractor, where the latter was entirely dependent upon the plans and specifications of the former, including for purposes of satisfying a project owner that both were beholden to. Certainly it was or should have been foresceable to Kanakanui that its omissions would harm Eastern Steel and result in Eastern Steel incurring economic losses. In the present matter, no relationship, special or

ordinary, existed between Respondent and Petitioners. Respondent's relationship was with Mr. Renzella and any duties attendant thereto, which were narrowly defined by the Waste Agreement, were fulfilled by Respondent. Indeed, if any duty existed as to Petitioners, that duty ran from Mr. Renzella to Petitioners.

Petitioners also cite to Wal-Mart Stores East, L.P. v. Ankrom, 244 W. Va. 437, 854 S.E.2d 257 (2020), in which a shoplifter in a Wal-Mart who was fleeing store personnel collided with and seriously injured Johna Ankrom. Ms. Ankrom filed suit against Wal-Mart and, following a jury trial, obtained a sizeable verdict. Wal-Mart's motion for a new trial was denied, whereupon it filed an appeal, specifically arguing that it did not owe a duty to Ms. Ankrom. This Court cited to Syllabus Pt. 3 of *Sewell* for the principal that "foreseeability is key when determining whether a particular actor operates under a duty of care." Id. at 448, 268. This Court then rejected Wal-Mart's arguments that it did not owe a duty to Ms. Ankrom based on (1) the so-called shopkeeper's privilege found in West Virginia Code § 61-3A-4 (1981), and (2) its employees' compliance with the store's policies on investigating and detaining shoplifters. Id. at 448-49, 268-69. The latter argument found no purchase with this Court because, at trial, the jury was presented with conflicting testimony as well as surveillance footage that this Court believed permitted the jury to conclude that Wal-Mart exposed Ms. Ankrom to a "foreseeable high risk of harm in the course of apprehending [the shoplifter], and, therefore, Wal-Mart owed a duty to Ms. Ankrom to protect her from his criminal conduct." Id. at 450, 270.

The scenario in *Wal-Mart Stores East, L.P.*, a premises liability case, is radically different from that in the present case. Naturally it was or should have been foreseeable to Wal-Mart that one of its paying customers could get caught in the fray if its personnel were not properly trained in pursuing and detaining a shoplifter. Meanwhile, no parallels can be drawn between the

straightforward transactional relationship of a retail store to its business invitee and a contractor and subsequent purchaser of property where fill material was placed, leveled, and graded at the request of the former property owner and as contemplated by a written agreement.

Finally, Petitioners cite to *Gable v. Gable*, 245 W. Va. 213, 858 S.E.2d 838 (2021), wherein Ronald Gable filed suit against his daughter, Deborah Gable, after he stepped on a small ball on her front steps, fell, and was injured. The Circuit Court dismissed Mr. Gable's Complaint on the grounds that he had not pled that he was not a trespasser and that the condition was not open and obvious. On appeal, this Court reversed, stating emphatically that a plaintiff need not anticipate and plead around potential defenses. *Id.* at 850. This Court, as it did in *Wal-Mart Stores East*, *L.P.*, then quoted Syllabus Pt. 3 from *Sewell* for the proposition that "foreseeability of an injury is dispositive of the duty owed." *Id.* at 851. This Court devoted much of the remainder of its opinion to the issue before it, which was the duty owed to a "typical visitor" in a premises liability action, including in its discussion notions of implied license and permissible visitation. *Id.* at 850-52. *Gable* is distinguishable for the same reasons as *Wal-Mart Stores East*, *L.P.* That is, it is a classic premises liability case where a duty between a homeowner and visitor has long-been recognized. There simply is no merit to a claim that Respondent owed the same or even a similar duty to Petitioners.

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